

**VEHICLE TOWING AND REPORTING
REQUIREMENTS**

2001 GENERAL SESSION

STATE OF UTAH

Sponsor: James R. Gowans

Chad E. Bennion

This act modifies motor vehicle, public safety, and transportation provisions relating to vehicles, vessels, and outboard motors that are removed by a tow truck motor carrier. This act regulates the removal of unattended vehicles and requires reporting of towed vehicles. This act requires certification of certain tow truck operations. This act authorizes certain fees and provides criminal penalties. This act takes effect on July 1, 2001.

This act affects sections of Utah Code Annotated 1953 as follows:

AMENDS:

41-1a-1101, as last amended by Chapters 270 and 281, Laws of Utah 1998

41-6-44.30, as last amended by Chapter 334, Laws of Utah 2000

41-6-102, as last amended by Chapter 270, Laws of Utah 1998

41-6-116.10, as last amended by Chapter 1, Laws of Utah 1992

53-1-106, as last amended by Chapter 130, Laws of Utah 1999

53-3-106, as last amended by Chapter 334, Laws of Utah 2000

72-9-601, as renumbered and amended by Chapter 270, Laws of Utah 1998

72-9-602, as renumbered and amended by Chapter 270, Laws of Utah 1998

72-9-603, as renumbered and amended by Chapter 270, Laws of Utah 1998

73-18-12.7, as last amended by Chapter 1, Laws of Utah 1992

73-18-12.8, as enacted by Chapter 118, Laws of Utah 1987

73-18-20.1, as enacted by Chapter 216, Laws of Utah 1990

73-18-20.2, as last amended by Chapter 1, Laws of Utah 1992

ENACTS:

41-6-102.5, Utah Code Annotated 1953

41-6-102.7, Utah Code Annotated 1953

Be it enacted by the Legislature of the state of Utah:

Section 1. Section **41-1a-1101** is amended to read:

41-1a-1101. Seizure -- Circumstances where permitted -- Impound lot standards.

(1) The division or any peace officer, without a warrant, may seize and take possession of any vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor:

- (a) that the division or the peace officer has reason to believe has been stolen;
- (b) on which any identification number has been defaced, altered, or obliterated;
- (c) that has been abandoned on the public highways;
- (d) for which the applicant has written a check for registration or title fees that has not been honored by the applicant's bank and that is not paid within 30 days;
- (e) that is placed on the water with improper registration; or
- (f) that is being operated on a highway:
 - (i) with registration that has been expired for more than three months;
 - (ii) having never been properly registered by the current owner; or
 - (iii) with registration that is suspended or revoked.

(2) If necessary for the transportation of a seized vessel, the vessel's trailer may be seized to transport and store the vessel.

(3) Any peace officer seizing or taking possession of a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor under this section shall ~~[immediately notify the division of the action]~~ comply with the provisions of Section 41-6-102.5.

~~[(4) A vehicle or vessel seized under this section shall be moved by a peace officer or by a tow truck that meets the standards established:]~~

~~[(a) by the Department of Public Safety under Subsection 41-6-102(4)(b); and]~~

~~[(b) under Title 72, Chapter 9, Motor Carrier Safety Act.]~~

~~[(5)]~~ (4) (a) In accordance with Title 63, Chapter 46a, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act, the commission shall make rules setting standards for public garages, impound lots, and impound yards that may be used by peace officers and the division.

(b) The standards shall be equitable, reasonable, and unrestrictive as to the number of public

garages, impound lots, or impound yards per geographical area.

~~[(6)]~~ (5) (a) Except as provided under Subsection ~~[(6)]~~ (5)(b), a person may not operate or allow to be operated a vehicle stored in a public garage, impound lot, or impound yard regulated under this part without prior written permission of the owner of the vehicle.

(b) Incidental and necessary operation of a vehicle to move the vehicle from one parking space to another within the facility and that is necessary for the normal management of the facility is not prohibited under this Subsection ~~[(6)]~~ (5)(a).

~~[(7)]~~ (6) A person who violates the provisions of Subsection ~~[(6)]~~ (5) is guilty of a class C misdemeanor.

~~[(8)]~~ (7) The division or the peace officer who seizes a vehicle shall record the mileage shown on the vehicle's odometer at the time of seizure, if:

- (a) the vehicle is equipped with an odometer; and
- (b) the odometer reading is accessible to the division or the peace officer.

Section 2. Section **41-6-44.30** is amended to read:

41-6-44.30. Seizure and impoundment of vehicles by peace officers -- Impound requirements -- Removal of vehicle by owner.

(1) ~~[(a)]~~ If a peace officer arrests or cites the operator of a vehicle for violating Section 41-6-44 or 41-6-44.10, or a local ordinance similar to Section 41-6-44 which complies with Subsection 41-6-43(1), the officer shall seize and impound the vehicle in accordance with Section 41-6-102.5, except as provided under Subsection (2).

~~[(b) A vehicle seized and impounded under this section shall be moved by a peace officer or by a tow truck that meets the standards established:]~~

~~[(i) by the department under Subsection 41-6-102(4)(b); and]~~

~~[(ii) under Title 72, Chapter 9, Motor Carrier Safety Act.]~~

(2) If a registered owner of the vehicle, other than the operator, is present at the time of arrest, the officer may release the vehicle to that registered owner, but only if the registered owner:

- (a) requests to remove the vehicle from the scene;
- (b) presents to the officer a valid operator's license and sufficient identification to prove

ownership of the vehicle;

(c) complies with all restrictions of his operator's license; and

(d) would not, in the judgment of the officer, be in violation of Section 41-6-44 or 41-6-44.10, or a local ordinance similar to Section 41-6-44 which complies with Subsection 41-6-43(1), if permitted to operate the vehicle, and if the vehicle itself is legally operable.

~~[(3) (a) The peace officer or agency by whom the officer is employed shall, within 24 hours after the seizure, notify, in writing, the Motor Vehicle Division of the seizure and impoundment.]~~

~~[(b) The notice shall state:]~~

~~[(i) the operator's name;]~~

~~[(ii) a description of the vehicle;]~~

~~[(iii) its identification number, if any;]~~

~~[(iv) its license number;]~~

~~[(v) the date, time, and place of impoundment;]~~

~~[(vi) the reason for impoundment; and]~~

~~[(vii) the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(4) Upon receipt of notice, the Motor Vehicle Division shall give notice to the registered owner of the vehicle in the manner prescribed by Section 41-1a-114. The notice shall:]~~

~~[(a) state the date, time, and place of impoundment, the name of the person operating the vehicle at the time of seizure, if applicable, the reason for seizure and impoundment, and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored;]~~

~~[(b) state that the registered owner is responsible for payment of towing, impound, and storage fees charged against the vehicle; and]~~

~~[(c) inform the registered owner of the vehicle of the conditions under Subsection (5) that must be satisfied before the vehicle is released.]~~

~~[(5) (a) The impounded vehicle shall be released after the registered owner or the owner's agent:]~~

~~[(i) makes a claim in person for release of the vehicle at any office of the State Tax Commission;]~~

~~[(ii) pays an administrative impound fee of \$200;]~~

~~[(iii) presents identification sufficient to prove ownership of the impounded vehicle; and]~~

~~[(iv) pays all towing and storage fees to the impound lot where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(b) (i) Twenty-five dollars of the impound fees assessed under this Subsection (5) are dedicated credits to the Motor Vehicle Division;]~~

~~[(ii) \$84 of the impound fees assessed under this Subsection (5) shall be deposited in the Department of Public Safety Restricted Account created in Section 53-3-106; and]~~

~~[(iii) the remainder shall be deposited in the General Fund.]~~

~~[(6) An impounded vehicle not claimed by the registered owner or the owner's agent within the time prescribed by Section 41-1a-1103 shall be sold in accordance with that section and the proceeds, if any, disposed of under Section 41-1a-1103. The date of impoundment is considered the date of seizure for computing the time period provided in Section 41-1a-1103.]~~

~~[(7) The registered owner of the vehicle upon the payment of all fees and charges incurred in the seizure and impoundment of the owner's vehicle has a cause of action for all the fees and charges, together with damages, court costs, and attorney fees, against the operator of the vehicle whose actions caused the impoundment.]~~

~~[(8) Liability may not be imposed upon any peace officer, the state, or any of its political subdivisions on account of the enforcement of this section.]~~

Section 3. Section **41-6-102** is amended to read:

41-6-102. Peace officer authorized to move vehicle.

(1) If a peace officer finds a vehicle in violation of Section 41-6-101, the officer may move the vehicle, cause the vehicle to be moved, or require the driver or other person responsible for the vehicle to move the vehicle to a safe position off the highway.

(2) A peace officer may remove or cause to be removed to a place of safety any unattended vehicle left standing upon any highway in violation of this article or in a position or under circumstances that the vehicle obstructs the normal movement of traffic.

(3) ~~[A]~~ In accordance with Section 41-6-102.5, a peace officer may remove or cause to be removed to the nearest garage or other place of safety any vehicle found upon a highway when:

(a) the vehicle has been reported stolen or taken without the consent of its owner;
(b) the person responsible for the vehicle is unable to provide for its custody or removal; or
(c) the person operating the vehicle is arrested for an alleged offense for which the peace officer is required by law to take the person arrested before a proper magistrate without unnecessary delay.

~~[(4) (a) A peace officer who causes to be removed a vehicle under this section shall have the vehicle removed by a tow truck service that meets standards established:]~~

~~[(i) by the department under Subsection (b);]~~

~~[(ii) under Title 72, Chapter 9, Motor Carrier Safety Act.]~~

~~[(b) The department shall make rules in accordance with Title 63, Chapter 46a, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act, setting the performance standards for towing companies to be used by the department.]~~

Section 4. Section **41-6-102.5** is enacted to read:

41-6-102.5. Removal and impound of vehicles -- Reporting and notification requirements.

(1) If a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is removed or impounded as provided under Sections 41-1a-1101, 41-6-44.30, 41-6-102, 41-6-116.10, 73-18-12.7, 73-18-12.8, or 73-18-20.1 by an order of a peace officer or by an order of a person acting on behalf of a law enforcement agency or highway authority as defined in Section 72-1-102, the removal or impoundment of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor shall be at the expense of the owner, to a state impound yard, or if none, to a garage, docking area, or other place of safety.

(2) The peace officer may move a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor or cause it to be removed by a tow truck motor carrier that meets standards established:

(a) under Title 72, Chapter 9, Motor Carrier Safety Act; and

(b) by the department under Subsection (9).

(3) (a) Immediately after the removal of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor, a report of the removal shall be sent to the Motor Vehicle Division by:

(i) the peace officer or agency by whom the peace officer is employed; and

(ii) the tow truck operator or the tow truck motor carrier by whom the tow truck operator is employed.

(b) The report shall be in a form specified by the Motor Vehicle Division and shall include:

(i) the operator's name, if known;

(ii) a description of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;

(iii) the vehicle identification number or vessel or outboard motor identification number;

(iv) the license number or other identification number issued by a state agency;

(v) the date, time, and place of impoundment;

(vi) the reason for removal or impoundment;

(vii) the name of the tow truck motor carrier who removed the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor; and

(viii) the place where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is stored.

(c) Until the tow truck operator or tow truck motor carrier reports the removal as required under Subsection (3), a tow truck motor carrier or impound yard may not:

(i) collect any fee associated with the removal; and

(ii) begin charging storage fees.

(4) (a) Upon receipt of the report, the Motor Vehicle Division shall give notice to the registered owner of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor and any lien holder in the manner prescribed by Section 41-1a-114.

(b) The notice shall:

(i) state the date, time, and place of removal, the name, if applicable, of the person operating the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor at the time of removal, the reason for removal, and the place where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is stored;

(ii) state that the registered owner is responsible for payment of towing, impound, and storage fees charged against the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor; and

(iii) inform the registered owner of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor of the conditions that must be satisfied before the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is released.

(c) If the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is not registered in this state, the Motor Vehicle

Division shall make a reasonable effort to notify the registered owner and any lien holder of the removal and the place where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is stored.

(d) The Motor Vehicle Division shall forward a copy of the notice to the place where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is stored.

(5) (a) The vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor shall be released after the registered owner, lien holder, or the owner's agent:

(i) makes a claim for release of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor at any office of the State Tax Commission;

(ii) presents identification sufficient to prove ownership of the impounded vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;

(iii) completes the registration, if needed, and pays the appropriate fees;

(iv) pays an administrative impound fee of \$200, if the vehicle was impounded under Section 41-6-44.30;

(v) pays an administrative impound fee of \$25, if the vessel or outboard motor was impounded under Section 73-18-12.7; and

(vi) pays all towing and storage fees to the place where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor is stored.

(b) (i) Twenty-five dollars of the impound fees assessed under Subsection (5)(a)(iv) are dedicated credits to the Motor Vehicle Division;

(ii) \$84 of the impound fees assessed under Subsection (5)(a)(iv) shall be deposited in the Department of Public Safety Restricted Account created in Section 53-3-106; and

(iii) the remainder of the impound fees assessed under Subsection (5)(a)(iv) shall be deposited in the General Fund.

(c) The revenue from the administrative impound fee assessed under Subsection (5)(a)(v) are dedicated credits to the Motor Vehicle Division.

(6) An impounded vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor not claimed by the registered owner or the owner's agent within the time prescribed by Section 41-1a-1103 shall be sold in accordance with that section and the proceeds, if any, shall be disposed of as provided in Section 41-1a-1104.

The date of impoundment is considered the date of seizure for computing the time period provided in Section 41-1a-1103.

(7) The registered owner who pays all fees and charges incurred in the impoundment of the owner's vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor, has a cause of action for all the fees and charges, together with damages, court costs, and attorney fees, against the operator of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor whose actions caused the removal or impoundment.

(8) Towing, impound fees, and storage fees are a possessory lien on the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor.

(9) The department shall make rules in accordance with Title 63, Chapter 46a, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act, setting the performance standards for towing companies to be used by the department.

(10) (a) The Motor Vehicle Division may specify that a report required under Subsection (3) be submitted in electronic form utilizing a database for submission, storage, and retrieval of the information.

(b) Unless otherwise provided by statute, the Motor Vehicle Division or the administrator of the database may adopt a schedule of fees assessed for utilizing the database. The fees shall be reasonable and fair and shall reflect the cost of administering the database.

Section 5. Section **41-6-102.7** is enacted to read:

41-6-102.7. Removal of unattended vehicles prohibited without authorization --

Penalties.

(1) In cases not amounting to burglary or theft of a vehicle, a person may not remove an unattended vehicle without prior authorization of:

(a) a peace officer;

(b) a law enforcement agency;

(c) a highway authority, as defined under Section 72-1-102, having jurisdiction over the highway on which there is an unattended vehicle; or

(d) the owner or person in lawful possession or control of the real property.

(2) (a) An authorization from a person specified under Subsection (1)(a), (b), or (c) shall be

in a form specified by the Motor Vehicle Division.

(b) The removal of the unattended vehicle shall comply with requirements of Section 41-6-102.5.

(3) The removal of the unattended vehicle authorized under Subsection (1)(d) shall comply with requirements of Section 72-9-603.

(4) A person who violates Subsections (1) or (3) is guilty of a class C misdemeanor.

Section 6. Section **41-6-116.10** is amended to read:

41-6-116.10. Abandoned vehicles -- Removal by peace officer -- Report -- Procedure if not reclaimed.

(1) As used in this section, "abandoned vehicle" means a vehicle that is left unattended:

(a) on a highway for a period in excess of 48 hours; or

(b) on any public or private property for a period in excess of seven days without express or implied consent of the owner or person in lawful possession or control of the property.

~~[(1)]~~ (2) A person may not abandon a vehicle upon any highway.

~~[(2)]~~ (3) A person may not abandon a vehicle upon any public or private property without the express or implied consent of the owner or person in lawful possession or control of the property.

~~[(3)(a)]~~ (4) A peace officer who has reasonable grounds to believe that a vehicle has been abandoned may remove the vehicle or cause it to be removed~~[, at the expense of the owner, to the nearest state impound yard or if none, to a garage or other place of safety]~~ in accordance with Section 41-6-102.5.

~~[(b) The peace officer shall immediately send a written report of the removal to the Motor Vehicle Division. The report shall include a description of the vehicle, the date, time and place of removal, the grounds for removal, and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(c) Upon receipt of a report, the Motor Vehicle Division shall attempt to notify the registered owner of the vehicle or any lien holder giving the grounds for removal and the name of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(d) If the vehicle is not registered in this state, the Motor Vehicle Division shall make a reasonable effort to notify the registered owner or any lien holder of the removal and the name of the~~

~~garage or place where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(e) The Motor Vehicle Division shall forward a copy of the notice to the owner or person in charge of the garage or place where the vehicle is stored.]~~

~~[(4) For the purposes of this section, a vehicle is presumed to be abandoned if it is left unattended:]~~

~~[(a) on a highway for a period in excess of 24 hours; or]~~

~~[(b) on any public or private property for a period in excess of seven days without express or implied consent of the owner or person in lawful possession or control of the property.]~~

(5) If the motor number, manufacturer's number or identification mark of the abandoned vehicle has been defaced, altered or obliterated, the vehicle may not be released or sold until the original motor number, manufacturer's number or identification mark has been replaced, or until a new number assigned by the Motor Vehicle Division has been stamped on the vehicle.

~~[(6) If the abandoned vehicle is not reclaimed by the registered owner or any lien holder within 30 days after actual notice or reasonable attempt to give notice to the registered owner or any lien holder, the provisions of Sections 41-1a-1009 and 41-1a-1102 shall apply, and the abandoned vehicle may be sold as provided in Section 41-1a-1301.]~~

Section 7. Section **53-1-106** is amended to read:

53-1-106. Department duties -- Powers.

(1) In addition to the responsibilities contained in this title, the department shall:

(a) make rules and perform the functions specified in Title 41, Chapter 6, Traffic Rules and Regulations, including:

(i) setting performance standards for towing companies to be used by the department, as required by Section ~~[41-6-102]~~ 41-6-102.5; and

(ii) advising the Department of Transportation regarding the safe design and operation of school buses, as required by Section 41-6-115;

(b) make rules to establish and clarify standards pertaining to the curriculum and teaching methods of a motor vehicle accident prevention course under Section 31A-19a-211;

(c) aid in enforcement efforts to combat drug trafficking using funds appropriated under

Section 58-37-20;

(d) as part of the annual budget hearings, provide the Executive Offices, Criminal Justice, and Legislature Appropriations Subcommittee with a complete accounting of expenditures and revenues from the funds under Section 58-37-20;

(e) meet with the Department of Administrative Services to formulate contracts, establish priorities, and develop funding mechanisms for dispatch and telecommunications operations, as required by Section 63A-6-107;

(f) provide assistance to the Crime Victims' Reparations Board and Reparations Office in conducting research or monitoring victims' programs, as required by Section 63-25a-405;

(g) develop sexual assault exam protocol standards in conjunction with the Utah Hospital Association, as required by Section 63-25a-409; and

(h) engage in emergency planning activities, including preparation of policy and procedure and rulemaking necessary for implementation of the federal Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act of 1986, as required by Section 63-5-5.

(2) (a) The department may establish a schedule of fees as required or allowed in this title for services provided by the department.

(b) The fees shall be established in accordance with Section 63-38-3.2.

Section 8. Section **53-3-106** is amended to read:

53-3-106. Disposition of revenues under this chapter -- Restricted account created -- Uses as provided by appropriation -- Nonlapsing.

(1) There is created within the Transportation Fund a restricted account known as the "Department of Public Safety Restricted Account."

(2) The account consists of monies generated from the following revenue sources:

(a) all monies received under this chapter;

(b) administrative fees received according to the fee schedule authorized under this chapter and Section 63-38-3.2; and

(c) any appropriations made to the account by the Legislature.

(3) (a) The account shall earn interest.

(b) All interest earned on account monies shall be deposited in the account.

(4) The expenses of the department in carrying out this chapter shall be provided for by legislative appropriation from this account.

(5) The amount in excess of \$35 of the fees collected under Subsection 53-3-105(29) shall be appropriated by the Legislature from this account to the department to implement the provisions of Section 53-1-117, except that of the amount in excess of \$35, \$30 shall be deposited in the State Laboratory Drug Testing restricted account created in Section 26-1-34.

(6) All monies received under [~~Section 41-6-44.30~~] Subsection 41-6-102.5(5)(b)(ii) shall be appropriated by the Legislature from this account to the department to implement the provisions of Section 53-1-117.

(7) Appropriations to the department from the account are nonlapsing.

Section 9. Section **72-9-601** is amended to read:

72-9-601. Tow truck motor carrier requirements -- Authorized towing certificates.

(1) In addition to the requirements of this chapter, a tow truck motor carrier shall:

~~[(1)]~~ (a) ensure that all the motor carrier's tow truck drivers are properly:

~~[(a)]~~ (i) trained to operate tow truck equipment; ~~[and]~~

~~[(b)]~~ (ii) licensed, as required under Title 53, Chapter 3, Uniform Driver License Act; and

(iii) complying with the requirements under Sections 41-6-102.5 and 72-9-603; and

~~[(2)]~~ (b) obtain and display a current authorized towing certificate ~~[of inspection]~~ for the tow truck motor carrier, and each tow truck and driver, as required under Section 72-9-602.

(2) A tow truck motor carrier may only perform a towing service described in Section 41-6-102.5, 41-6-102.7, or 72-9-603, with a tow truck and driver that has a current authorized towing certificate under this part.

Section 10. Section **72-9-602** is amended to read:

72-9-602. Towing inspections, investigations, and certification -- Equipment requirements -- Consumer information.

(1) (a) The department shall ~~[conduct inspections of]~~ inspect, investigate, and certify tow truck motor carriers, tow trucks, and tow truck drivers to ensure compliance with this chapter and

compliance with Sections 41-6-102.5 and 41-6-102.7.

(b) ~~[Each]~~ The inspection [of a tow truck], investigation, and certification shall be conducted prior to ~~[the]~~ any tow truck ~~[beginning]~~ operation and at least every two years thereafter.

(c) (i) The department shall issue ~~[a]~~ an authorized towing certificate ~~[of inspection]~~ for each tow truck motor carrier, tow truck, and driver that complies with this part.

(ii) The ~~[inspection]~~ certificate shall expire two years from the month of issuance.

(d) The department may charge a biennial fee established under Section 63-38-3.2 to cover the cost of the inspection, investigation, and certification required under this ~~[section]~~ part.

(2) The department shall make consumer protection information available to the public that may use a tow truck motor carrier.

Section 11. Section **72-9-603** is amended to read:

72-9-603. Towing notice requirements -- Cost responsibilities -- Abandoned vehicle title restrictions -- Rules for maximum rates and certification.

(1) ~~[Unless a vehicle is impounded under Section 41-6-44.30, after performing a]~~ Except for tow truck service that was ordered by a peace officer, or a person acting on behalf of a law enforcement agency, or a highway authority, as defined in Section 72-1-102, after performing a tow truck service that is being done without the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor owner's knowledge, the ~~[person operating the]~~ tow truck operator or the tow truck motor carrier shall:

(a) ~~[within one hour of]~~ immediately upon arriving at the place of storage or impound of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor, contact the law enforcement agency having jurisdiction over the area where the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor was picked up and notify the agency of the:

(i) location of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;

(ii) date, time, and location from which the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor was removed;

(iii) reasons for the removal of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;

(iv) person who requested the removal of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor; and

(v) ~~[vehicle's]~~ vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor's description, including its identification number and license number or other identification number issued by a state agency; and

(b) within ~~[five]~~ two business days of performing the tow truck service, send a certified letter

to the last known address of the registered owner of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor obtained from the Motor Vehicle Division or if the person has actual knowledge of the owner's address to the current address, notifying him of the:

- (i) location of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;
- (ii) date, time, location from which the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor was removed;
- (iii) reasons for the removal of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;
- (iv) person who requested the removal of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor;
- (v) [~~vehicle's~~] a description, including its identification number and license number or other identification number issued by a state agency; and
- (vi) costs and procedures to retrieve the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor.

(2) Until the tow truck operator or tow truck motor carrier reports the removal as required under Subsection (1)(a), a tow truck motor carrier or impound yard may not:

- (i) collect any fee associated with the removal; and
- (ii) begin charging storage fees.

~~[(2)]~~ (3) The [~~registered~~] owner of a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor lawfully removed is only responsible for paying:

- (a) the towing[, impound,] and storage fees set in accordance with Subsection (7); and
- (b) the administrative impound fee set in Section 41-6-102.5, if applicable.

~~[(3)]~~ (4) [~~Towing, impound, and storage~~] The fees under Subsection (3) are a possessory lien on the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor until paid.

~~[(4)]~~ (5) A person may not request a transfer of title to an abandoned vehicle until at least 30 days after notice has been sent under Subsection (1)(b).

(6) A tow truck motor carrier or impound yard shall clearly and conspicuously post and disclose all its current fees and rates for towing and storage of a vehicle in accordance with rules established under Subsection (7).

~~[(5)]~~ (7) In accordance with Title 63, Chapter 46a, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act, the Department of Transportation [~~may~~] shall:

- (a) set maximum rates that:

~~[(a)]~~ (i) tow truck motor carriers may charge for the towing of ~~[vehicles]~~ a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor that are transported in response to:

~~[(i)]~~ (A) a peace officer dispatch call;

~~[(ii)]~~ (B) a motor vehicle division call; and

~~[(iii)]~~ (C) any other call where the owner of the vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor has not consented to the removal ~~[of his vehicle]~~; and

~~[(b)]~~ (ii) impound yards may charge for the storage of ~~[vehicles]~~ a vehicle, vessel, or outboard motor stored as a result of one of the conditions listed under Subsection ~~[(5)]~~ (7)(a)[-];

(b) establish authorized towing certification requirements, not in conflict with federal law, related to incident safety, clean-up, and hazardous material handling; and

(c) specify the form and content of the posting and disclosure of fees and rates charged by a tow truck motor carrier or impound yard.

Section 12. Section **73-18-12.7** is amended to read:

73-18-12.7. Operating under the influence -- Seizure and impoundment of vessel.

(1) If a peace officer arrests or cites the operator of a vessel for violating Section 73-18-12.2 or a local ordinance similar to Section 73-18-12.2, which complies with Section 73-18-12.1, the peace officer shall seize and impound the vessel in accordance with Section 41-6-102.5, except as provided under Subsection (2). If necessary for transportation of the vessel for impoundment, the vessel's trailer may be used to transport the vessel.

(2) If a registered owner of the vessel, other than the driver, is present at the time of arrest, the peace officer may release the vessel to that registered owner, but only if:

(a) the registered owner:

(i) requests removal of the vessel from the scene;

(ii) presents to the peace officer sufficient identification to prove ownership of the vessel;

and

(iii) would not, in the judgment of the peace officer, be in violation of Section 73-18-12.2 or a local ordinance adopted in compliance with Section 73-18-12.1, if permitted to operate the vessel; and

(b) the vessel is legally operable.

~~[(3) (a) Any peace officer who impounds a vessel under this section shall remove, or cause the vessel to be removed, to the nearest accessible docking area, public or private garage, state impound lot, or other approved storage facility that meets the standards set by rule by the Motor Vehicle Division of the State Tax Commission, or if there is none, another reasonably safe place. The standards set by the Motor Vehicle Division shall be fair and reasonable and shall be unrestrictive as to the number of docking or other impoundment areas per geographical area.]~~

~~[(b) The peace officer or agency by whom the peace officer is employed shall within 24 hours after the seizure notify the Motor Vehicle Division of the seizure and impoundment. The notice shall set forth:]~~

~~[(i) the operator's name;]~~

~~[(ii) a description of the vessel, its identification number, if any, and its assigned number;]~~

~~[(iii) the date, time, and place of impoundment;]~~

~~[(iv) the reason for impoundment; and]~~

~~[(v) the location of the dock or other place where the vessel is stored.]~~

~~[(4) Upon receipt of the notice, the Motor Vehicle Division shall give notice to the registered owner of the vessel in the same manner as prescribed for vehicles by Section 41-1a-114. The notice shall:]~~

~~[(a) set forth:]~~

~~[(i) the date, time, and place of impoundment;]~~

~~[(ii) the name of the person operating the vessel at the time of seizure;]~~

~~[(iii) the reason for seizure and impoundment; and]~~

~~[(iv) the location where the vessel is stored;]~~

~~[(b) inform the registered owner that he is responsible for payment of transportation charges, impound fees, and storage fees charged against the vessel; and]~~

~~[(c) inform the registered owner of the vessel of the conditions prescribed in Subsection (5) which must be satisfied before the vessel may be released.]~~

~~[(5) (a) The impounded vessel shall be released after the registered owner or the owner's~~

agent:]

~~[(i) makes a claim for release of the vessel at any state office designated by the Motor Vehicle Division;]~~

~~[(ii) pays an impound fee of \$25;]~~

~~[(iii) presents identification sufficient to prove ownership of the impounded vessel; and]~~

~~[(iv) pays all transportation, impound, and storage fees.]~~

~~[(b) The transportation and storage fees shall be paid to the docking area or other storage facility where the vessel is stored. All impound fees assessed under this subsection are dedicated revenue to the Motor Vehicle Division.]~~

~~[(6) (a) Any impounded vessel not claimed by the registered owner or the owner's agent within 30 days shall be sold in accordance with the procedures specified in Section 41-1a-1103 for the sale of impounded motor vehicles.]~~

~~[(b) The proceeds, if any, shall be disposed of in the manner specified in Section 41-1a-1104.]~~

~~[(c) The date of impoundment is considered the date of seizure for purposes of computing the time period.]~~

~~[(7)] (3) (a) Transportation and storage fees shall be established by the Motor Vehicle Division and shall be reviewed by the Motor Vehicle Division annually to ensure equity for vessel owners and transportation and storage operators.~~

~~(b) Transportation, impound fees, or storage fees are a lien on the vessel.~~

~~[(8) The registered owner of the vessel, upon the payment of all fees and charges incurred in the seizure and impoundment of the owner's vessel, has a cause of action for all the fees and charges, together with damages, court costs, and attorney fees, against the operator of the vessel whose actions caused the impoundment.]~~

~~[(9) Liability may not be imposed upon any peace officer, the state, or any of its political subdivisions on account of the enforcement of this section.]~~

Section 13. Section **73-18-12.8** is amended to read:

73-18-12.8. Operating under the influence -- Removal or impoundment of vehicle used

to tow impounded vessel.

A vehicle used to tow a vessel which is impounded under this chapter may be removed under the provisions of Subsection 41-6-44.30 (2), but if no person is able to move the vehicle under that section, the vehicle may be removed and impounded under Section 41-6-102.5 if leaving it unattended is contrary to the safety of the public.

Section 14. Section **73-18-20.1** is amended to read:

73-18-20.1. Seizure of a vessel.

(1) A peace officer, without a warrant, may seize and take possession of a vessel:

(a) that is placed or being operated on the waters of this state with improper registration;

(b) that the peace officer has reason to believe has been stolen;

(c) on which any hull identification number or serial number for an engine or outboard motor has been defaced, altered, or obliterated;

(d) that has been abandoned on public land, highways, or waters of this state; or

(e) if the registration or title fees for the vessel or outboard motor have not been paid.

(2) If necessary for the transportation of a seized vessel, the vessel's trailer may be seized to transport and store the vessel.

(3) Any peace officer seizing or taking possession of a vessel under this section shall ~~[immediately notify the Motor Vehicle Division of the State Tax Commission of the action and shall impound the vessel at a docking area, public or private garage, state impound lot, or other storage facility approved by the Motor Vehicle Division]~~ comply with the provisions of Section 41-6-102.5.

Section 15. Section **73-18-20.2** is amended to read:

73-18-20.2. Release and sale of a seized vessel.

~~[(1) A vessel seized under Section 73-18-20.1 shall remain impounded until:]~~

~~[(a) the vessel's registration has been properly completed and the appropriate fees have been paid; or]~~

~~[(b) the ownership of the vessel is established to the satisfaction of the division or its authorized agent.]~~

~~[(2)]~~ If the hull identification number or serial number for the engine or outboard motor of

a vessel seized under Section 73-18-20.1 has been defaced, altered, or obliterated, the vessel may not be released until:

~~[(a)]~~ (1) the original manufacturer's hull identification number or engine or outboard motor serial number has been replaced; or

~~[(b)]~~ (2) a new number assigned by the division or its authorized agent has been provided and has been affixed to the vessel, engine, or outboard motor.

~~[(3) (a) Any seized vessel not claimed by the registered owner or the owner's agent within 30 days shall be sold and handled in accordance with the procedures specified in Sections 41-1a-1103 through 41-1a-1106 for the sale of impounded motor vehicles.]~~

~~[(b) The proceeds, if any, shall be disposed of in the same manner as under Section 41-1a-1104.]~~

~~[(c) Transportation, impound fees, or storage fees are a lien on the vessel.]~~

Section 16. **Effective date.**

This act takes effect on July 1, 2001.